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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

TYLER TREVATHAN,

Plaintiff,
VS. Case N011-CV-0946MJIR
URS CORPORATION,
URS CORPORATION, d/b/a URS ENERGY

& CONSTRUCTION, INC., and
URS ENERGY & CONSTRUCTION, INC.,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM and ORDER

REAGAN, District Judge:

On September 1, 2011, Tyler Trevathan filed a thoeent complaint against
Defendants URS Corporation, URS Corporation d/b/a URS Energy & Construction,niéc., a
URS Energy & Construction, Inc., (collectively, URS) in the Circuit Courthef First Judicial
Circuit, Pulaski County, lllinois. Served on September 23, 2011, URS timely removediome a
to this federal district court on October 21, 2011, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 88 1332, 1441 and 1446.
Trevathan alleges that URS terminated his employment in retaliation for hissagehis rights
under the lllinois Workers’ Compensation ABIVCA). Trevathan seeks compensatory damages
(for lost wages, expenses and costs in seeking alternative employmentnkish peghts and
fringe benefits, embarrassment and emotional damagegunitive damages.

On August 15, 2012, URS moved for summary judgmkeoth a response and
reply have been filed (Docs. 33, 53, 58)he matter being fully briefedthe Court begins its

analysis with a recitation of the factual background.
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Factual Background

Trevathan, a member of the Ironworkers’ Local 782 union, was oyl by
URS as an ironworker at the Olmsted Lock and Dam Project. At Olmsted, URS dewistruc
concrete precast shells which would be placed in the river to become part of thetmsneing
built. Part of Trevathan’s job was to weld base plates to support posts so they cotddHsslat
to the shells.

It is undisputed that Trevathan was aware of URS’s safety policies and
procedures. URS gave Trevathan safety material to review, provided him widtiey S
Orientation Handbook which included URS’ssdplinary policy for safgy infractions. The
policy providedprogressivl more severe discipline for repeated ird¢tens but also provided
that “[a]ny blatant and/or willful disregard for safety can be cause for immediaensgion
regardless of thaumber of offenses.” (Doc. 34, Exh. A, p. 88). The policy was effective as of
January 7, 2002. Trevathan received safety training in moving and picking up objectsxgnd usi
tools, as well as receiving the U. S. Army Corps of Engineers’ ActivitgaktbAnalyses
(AHAS), which cover various procedures for welding and other hazardous activitibe bt
The AHAs were reviewed and discussed at safety meetings. Safety meetiegheld each
morning before employees began work. Trevathan also receicegpyaof URS’s"Sweet
Seventeen Paths to the Gapmlicy, which provided: “Violation of any of the 17 safety rules
listed will show you the path to the gate, thus preventing injury to you and our other Team

Members. _This will be Zero ToleranceTogethe we can accomplish our goal of Zero

Incidents? (Doc. 343, p. 22) (emphasis in original). The 17 violatitisgedincluded failure to

wear fall protection, refusal or failure to wear protective equipmemghevolved in horseplay
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or fighting, any blatant or willful disregard for safety or AHA requir@tseand not stopping
unsafe work after witnessing itd.

On August 18, 2011Trevathanwas welding base plates to the support posts,
which are made of hollow steel pipe, about threés thick' The weight of the posts varies
between 800 and 1800 pounds, depending on their length. The posts are capped on one end, and
when Trevathan began working on a post, it would be standing vertically on the capp&hend.
the day Trevathan wasjured, he was working with Ricky Larrison welding base platks.
order to move the post to the basepldteyvathanput a choker around the post, which attaches
to the forklift with a picking devicel'he choker has two eyeledsd is wrapped around the post.
One end of the choker is pulled through the eyelet on the other end and tightéeeelyelet is
hooked onto the picking devig® that theforklift canlift the post and lay it on the ground.
Once the post is on the ground, the choker is removed and put on the opposite end ofthe post
it can be lifted, and the uncapped @aah be set onto the base platewelding.

Trevathan and Larrison were working on their fourth support post when the injury
occurred. The first three were moved by the forklift operator that Trevatich Larrison usually
worked with, Mike. Mike used the process described above when flipping the pastsng up
the post with the choker and laying it down on its side, and picking the post back up with the
choker on the other end to sebn the base plate. Trevathan testified that when flipping a post,
it is preferable to lay it down on the ground so that both gussets are touching the gauskb
that is the most secure position. The forklift operator whotasisigith the fourth post was Ben
Bolin, who had not flipped a support post for Trevathan before. Trevathan told Bolin hop to fli

the postbut Bolin suggested that he just knock the post over with the forklift instead of picking

! The Court accepts URS’s version of these events and procedures to the extent that they are undisputed and
supported by deposition testimony.
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it up and laying it downTrevathartold Bolin that he did not see what that would hurt and that it
was okay to do it that wayWhen Bolin knocked the post over fél on its side in the gravel
and one of the gussessuck in the gravelith the other gusset up in the aiftrevathan and
Larrison moved the choker so the post could be lifted,ibwtoing s a kink developed in the
chain. Trevathan “jerked” the choker to get the kink out and, since the post was balanced on
only one gusset, it rolled towartlsn, onto his righfoot, first scraping his shin and then landing
on his ankle, driving his heel into the ground. He was able to pull his foot out from under the
post. Trevathan testified that he did not notice that both gussets were not on the ground before
the post moved.

Larrison, Bolin and Dave Hill (general foreman) filled out accident reportadef
Trevathan was driven to the hospital by a Safety employee. An investigdtthe accident
ensued, and management decided that Trevathan and Larrison shdiddhlaeged Trevathan
was dischargedn August 19, the day after his injury. He filed for workers’ compensation
benefits on August 25.

. Summary judgment standard

Summary judgment should be granted when “the pleadings, depositions, answers
to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, telabwhere is
no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is eotélg@ddgment as a
matter of law.” Bevolo v. Carter447 F.3d 979, 982 (7th Cir. 2006yuoting Fed. R. Civ. P.
56(c), andciting Ezell v. Pottey 400 F.3d 1041, 1046 (7th Cir. 2005} elotex Corp. v. Catrett

477 U.S. 317, 322-23 (1986).
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In assessing whether summary judgment is warranted, the Court musteatistru
evidence, plus the inferences reasonably drawn from the evidence, in the lightvodiléto
the nonmoving party. Sallenger v. Oakes473 F.3d 731, 739 (7th Cir. 2007%iting Leaf v.
Shelnutt 400 F.3d 1070, 1078 (7th Cir. 2005)'he mere existence of an alleged factuspdte
is not sufficient to defeat a summary judgment motidmderson v. Liberty Lobby477 U.S.
242, 247 (1986)Salvadori v. Franklin School District,293 F.3d 989, 996 (7th Cir. 2002).
Rather, to successfully oppose summary judgment, the nonmovasit present definite,
competent evidence in rebuttéalvadori,293 F.3d at 996¢iting Vukadinovichv. Bd of Sch.
Trs. of N. Newton Sch. Corp278 F.3d 693, 699 (7th Cir. 2002).

1. Discussion

Trevathan claire that he was discharged in retaliation for exercising his rights
under thelWCA. Under lllinois law,“[tJo maintaina claim for retaliatory discharge, an
employee must pwve: ‘(1) his status as an employee of the defendant before injury; (2) his
exerciseof a right granted by the Workers' Compensation Act; and (3) a causal rdlgtions
between his discharge and the exercise of his tigl@ordon v. FedEx Freight, Inc 674 F.3d
769, 773(7th Cir. 2012), quoting Roger v. Yellow Fraht Sys., Inc.,21 F.3d 146, 149 (7th
Cir. 1994). URS does not dispute that Trevathan was an employee before his injury dral that
exercised a right guaranteed by the IWCA. The only issue is whether Trecatihastablish
thata causal relationship exists betwe&ndxercise of this right and htermination.

lllinois courts treat a retaliatory discharge action as a traditional tort clathscan
do not apply the familiaMcDonnell Douglas analytical framework.Gordon, 674 F.3d at 774

citing McDonndl Douglas Corp. v. Greer411 U.S. 792 (1973)Q'Leary v. Accretive Health,
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Inc., 657 F.3d 625, 63@1 (7th Cir. 2011) Clemons v. Mechanical Devices C&04 N.E.2d
403, 40708 (Ill. 1998) As a result, in ordeto demonstratea causal relationshipirevathan
“must affirmatively show that the discharge was primarily in retaliationhfsrexercise of a
protected right.”Roger,21 F.3d at 149 In sum, ke must offer Sufficient evidence from which

a reasonable jury could infer that the employer was ipgytp motivated.”ld. If Trevathan can
meet this burden, then URS is required to proaidiegitimate reason for its decision to terminate
him. See id The ultimate issuén a retaliatory discharge caseti® employer's motive in
discharging the emploge Hartlein v. Ill. Power Co.,601 N.E.2d 720, 730 (1992).

URS’s assertion that Trevathan failed to present evidémcghowthat URS
discharged him becausdRS believed that he had filed or intended to file a workers’
compensation claim is meritless. h& Seventh Circuit, inGordon, identified three ways
recognized in lllinois law by which an employe®my exercise a right under the IWCA: (1)
where an employee files a workers' compensation claim; (2) where an emiglpyeemptively
fired to prevent such a filing; and (3) wheaa employee merely requests and seeks medical
attention.674 F.3d at 77

The lllinois Supreme Court, discussing this third approachHinthorn v.
Roland's of Boomington, Inc.,519 N.E.2d 909Ill. 1988), observed thatthe overriding
purpose of the Act is to protect injured employees by ensuring the availabiliyedical
treatment, by shifting the financial burden of such treatment to the empldy28."N.E.2d at
913 (citations omitted) The Court explained that the defendant confused procedural means
with fundamental policy, noting that “[rlequesting and seeking medicaltiaite... is only the

crucial first step in exercising rights under the Workers' Compensatioh A¢t The Court
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concluded that an employee who was discharged after informing her company that beerha
injured and intended to seek medical attention had a claim for retaliatory deschdirat 910
13.

Trevathan had no need to inform URS that he was injured and seeking medical
attention. URS was immediately aware of it, and a URS employee drove Trevattien to
hospital. So, even thougfirevathan filed a workers’ compensation claim after he was
discharged he may still pursuea retaliatory discharge claim.By seeking medical care,
Trevatharexercised a right under the IWCA.

URS next contends that Trevathan cannot establish causation because the reason
for his discharge is valid and ngmetextial. Specifically, according to URS, Trevathan was
discharged because he violated Rule 16 of Bweet Sevente&n- “willful or blatant disregard
for safety or the requirements of the AHA’9JRS'’s assertion is welupported since Trevathan
was trainedn safety requirement&new that URS had a zero tolerance safety policy, knew how
to turn the possafely, turned the post in an unsafe manner and was injured the8epWRS
hasoffered a legitimate, non-discriminatory and rmetaliatory motive fohis discharge.

Once a defendantrticulates a legitimate reasdor the dischargethe burden
shifts back to the plaintiff to show that &lemployer’s reason iswworthy of belief.” Gusewelle
v. City of Wood River374 F.3d 569, 575 (7th Cir. 2004gucting Koski v. Standex Int'l Corp.,
307 F.3d 672, 677 (7th Cir2002) To this end the plaintiff may show: “(1) the proffered
reasons are factually baseless, (2) the proffered reasons were not the atuagiomdor the
discharge, or (3) the profferedasons were insufficient to motivate the discharde.; citing

Koski,307 F.3d at 677
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Trevathan asserts that there is sufficient evidence to show that PR®ared
reason is pretextuat and, essentially, that the evidence more than meets ghertehat the
proffered reason is factually baseless, not the actual motivation for tieudjsand insufficient
to motivate his discharge-de contends that URS treated similasiuated employees differently
and that employees who willfully or blaiidy disregarded safetybut were not injured - were not
discharged. As examples, Trevathan offelistaof employees who, between February 2009 and
January 2011, violated URS’s fall protection poliepd were given verbal warnings or
suspended.See Doc. 5310. Violation of the project fall protection policy was number one
among the 17 safety rules for which there was zero tolerance and for which a workeébeoul
shown the path to the gate. list of workers who were disciplined for working withoutrect
tie-off procedures and failing to correct the situation showed that 19 employees wenedsas
on February 2, 2011As Trevathanpoints out,fall protectionwas a serious concern on the job
site and posters themgarned,“Think Fall Protection isa Pain ... TRY HITTING CONCRETE
AT 60 MPH” and “A fall from any height can kill.”

In June 2011, an incident occurred in which five employees were suspended when
they took all of the ties out of a concrete form and let it drop about 20 feetdgootived They
were disciplined because the “working process caused a potential for serious iojuigtao
personnel.”In another instance, an employee who failed totidut was uninjured was given a
verbal warning. Two de later, the same employeacaged in horseplay. Both failure to use
fall protection and engaging in horseplay are terminalgationsunder the 17 Rules, but two

incidents in three days resulted in nothing more than a second verbal warning.
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URS asserts that théncidents cited by Trevathan occurred prior to the
implementation of the “Sweet Seventeen Paths to the Gate."TrBuathan providesvidence
that the “Sweet Seventeen” did not announce a new, more onerous policy as temnhlasant
disregard for safety. @&cording b James Beckerle, who was the deputy project manager at
Olmsted, an employee who engaged in willful or blatant disregard for safety could be
immediately dischargetleforethe “Sweet Seventenvas implemergd? Doc. 531, Beckerle
Dep. 38:611. Moreover,the disciplinary policy as to “willful or blatant disregard” does not
differ from that in the Safety Handbook given to Trevathan when he began aotkRS,
effective as of January 2002. Lastly, URS continued to discipline employeegiolated safety
rules, but who did not exercise their rights under the IW@Aas severely than Trevathan.
Bowman Dep., Exh. 1.

URS also argues that the employees identified by Trevathan are not similarly
situated because none of them were involved in the same conduct for which teenwagted.
URS submitghat Larrison, the employee who was engagedxattly the same conduct, was
also terminated. In this, URS mdigtes the standartbr similarly situated As the Seventh
Circuit observed earlier this year,

Compaators must have “engaged in simitamot identical—conduct to qualify as
similarly situated.”Peirick [v. Indiana University, 510 F.3d 681, 691 (2007)]
(reversing summary judgment in relevant part; university tennis coach “dccuse
of using abusive languagensafe driving, leaving students behind during a road
trip, and pitting the students against the administration” was similarly situated to
coaches who “did not engage in the exact same misconduct” but who “violated
the very same rules”), quotingzell v. Potter, 400 F.3d 1041, 1050 (7th Cir.
2005) (reversing summary judgment in relevant part; mail carrier accused of
taking too long a lunch was similarly situated to another carrier who had lost a

piece of certified mail). To determine “whether two employle@#e engaged in
similar misconduct, the critical question is whether they have engaged in conduct

2 Beckerle was employed by Alberici Constructors, Inc., which was involved in a Washington Group/Alberici
joint venture. URS had purchased Washington Group. Beckerle Dep. 6:7-17.
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of comparable seriousnes®&irick, 510 F.3d at 689 Coleman v. Donahoe667
F.3d 835, 850-51 (7th Cir. 2012)

It is URS itself that has set the stardlfor “comparable seriousness.” In its list
of 17 rule violations, those who failed to wear fall protectosnengaged in horsepldyave
engaged in comparably serious conduct arel consequentlysimilarly situated to those who
show willful or blatandisregard for safety.

Summary judgment is not warranted because sufficient evidence exists that UR
disciplined similarly situated employeewho violated safety rules but who were not injured and
did not exercise their rights under the IWGCAdifferently from the way URS disciplined
Trevathan. Whether Trevathan’s conduct etethe standard of “willful or blatant disregard” is
also a question for the trier of facGtated another way, the Court cannot find on the evidence
before it that URS was not properly motivated when it discharged Trevathan such that URS
would be entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

On the issue of punitive damagédinois law ... draws a clear distinction
between the showing needed for liability and the higher level of culpabikiyedeto sustain an
award ofpunitive damages in retaliatory discharge cases.... To reqoweitive damages, a
plaintiff must present evidence that the underlying conduct ... involve[d] an elefmauirage
similar to that found in crime.”Kirchner v. Sunbelt Rentals, Inc2011 WL 1303997, at *4
(N.D.IIIl. 2011) (citations, internal citations and quotation marks omitted) Hiatt v. Rockwell
Intern. Corp. 26 F.3d 761, 766 (7th Cir. 1994)Although a close call, careful scrutiny of the
recordshows that Trevathan has providadficientevidence tademonstratéhat a genuine fact

guestion exists on his eligibility for punitive damages. The timing of his dgeheoupled with
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the other evidence described above, supports a finding of a egleeiof culpability such that
summary judgment on the punitive damages claim is not warranted.
IV.  Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, the ColENIES URS’s motion for summary
judgment (Doc. 33). This case remains set for Final Pretrial Conferandevember 16, 2012,
at 11:00 a.m., with a Jury Trial set for November 26, 2012, at 9:00 a.m.
IT IS SO ORDERED.

DATED this 17th day of October, 2012

sMichael J. Reagan
MICHAEL J. REAGAN
United States Districtutige
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